COPY

SUPREME COURT  
FILED

FEB 26 2016

IN THE SUPREME COURT  
FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk  

---

Deputy

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, )  
 )  
Plaintiff and Respondent, )  
 )  
v. )  
 )  
TIMOTHY WAYNE PAGE, )  
 )  
Defendant and Petitioner. )

No. S230793  
Fourth District  
Court of Appeal  
No. E062760

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Appeal from the Superior Court of California  
San Bernardino County Case No. FV11201369  
Honorable Lorenzo R. Balderrama and Michael A. Smith, Judges

JEFFREY S. KROSS  
State Bar No. 142882  
P.O. Box 2252  
Sebastopol, CA 95473-2252  
(707) 823-8665  
kross142882@gmail.com

Attorney for Petitioner  
TIMOTHY WAYNE PAGE

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES**

1. Penal Code section 1170.18<sup>1</sup>, as enacted via Proposition 47 by popular vote on November 4, 2014, added section 490.2, which provides that the taking of *any* property less than or equal to \$950 in value shall be considered petty theft and shall be punished as a misdemeanor. Should this provision equally apply to the taking of a motor vehicle under Vehicle Code section 10851 (assuming the value thereof does not exceed \$950), although that statute neither was added nor amended by Proposition 47, because taking a vehicle is a lesser included offense to grand theft of an automobile?

2. Does it violate constitutional equal protection doctrines to allow the theft of an inexpensive vehicle charged under section 487, subdivision (d)(1) -- which requires the specific intent to permanently deprive the owner

---

1. Further statutory references are to the Penal Code, unless otherwise designated.

of his or her vehicle -- to be punished as a misdemeanor, whereas the taking of a vehicle charged under Vehicle Code section 10851 -- which does not require an intent to permanently deprive -- still may be punished as a felony?

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

“On June 8, 2012, defendant pleaded guilty to three counts, including the unlawful taking of a vehicle (Veh. Code, § 10851, subd.(a)), evading an officer with willful disregard for safety (Veh. Code, § 2800.2, subd. (a)), and resisting an executive officer (Pen. Code, § 69)). He also admitted one prior strike conviction and two prison priors. Pursuant to the plea agreement, he received a sentence of 10 years eight months. [¶] On November 19, 2014, defendant filed in propria persona a petition for resentencing pursuant to Proposition 47. The trial court summarily denied the request on December 26, 2014.” (*People v. Page*, (E062760), formerly at 241 Cal.App.714, 716-717.)

Division Two of the Fourth District Court of Appeal affirmed the superior court’s order denying petitioner’s petition for resentencing on October 23, 2015. (*People v. Page, supra.*)

## ARGUMENT

UNDER PROPOSITION 47, A CONVICTION FOR TAKING AN AUTO UNDER VEHICLE CODE SECTION 10851 SHOULD BE ELIGIBLE FOR THE SAME REDUCTION TO A MISDEMEANOR AS WOULD A VEHICLE STOLEN UNDER PENAL CODE SECTION 487

**A. The voters of California presumably understood and intended Proposition 47 to apply to the theft of inexpensive automobiles.**

On November 4, 2014, the voters enacted Proposition 47, “the Safe Neighborhoods and Schools Act” (hereafter Proposition 47), which went into effect the next day. (*People v. Rivera* (2015) 233 Cal.App.4th 1085, 1089.) The proposition was codified in section 1170.18, which provides in relevant part:

(a) A person currently serving a sentence for a conviction, whether by trial or plea, of a felony or felonies who would have been guilty of a misdemeanor under the act that added this section (“this act”) had this act been in effect at the time of the offense may petition for a recall of sentence before the trial court that entered the judgment of conviction in his or her case to request resentencing in accordance with . . . Section 490.2 . . . of the Penal Code, as those sections have been amended or added by this act.

If a defendant is eligible for reduction of his or her conviction under subdivision (a), then subdivision (b) requires the trial court to determine whether the defendant poses “an unreasonable risk of danger to public safety,” and lists criteria for the trial court to consider in making that determination, none of which applied to petitioner here. (§ 1170.18, subd. (b) & (c).)

The interpretation of a statute is subject to de novo review on appeal. (*Kavanaugh v. West Sonoma County Union High School Dist.* (2003) 29 Cal.4th 911, 916.) “In interpreting a voter initiative like Proposition [47], [courts] apply the same principles that govern statutory construction.”



(*People v. Rizo* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 681, 685.) ““The fundamental purpose of statutory construction is to ascertain the intent of the lawmakers so as to effectuate the purpose of the law. [Citations.]”” (*Horwich v. Superior Court* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 272, 276.) “In determining intent, we look first to the words themselves. [Citations.] When the language is clear and unambiguous, there is no need for construction. [Citations.] When the language is susceptible of more than one reasonable interpretation, however, we look to a variety of extrinsic aids, including the ostensible objects to be achieved, the evils to be remedied, the legislative history, public policy, contemporaneous administrative construction, and the statutory scheme of which the statute is a part. [Citations.]” (*People v. Woodhead* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1002, 1007-1008.)

As this court has observed, “[T]he “plain meaning” rule does not prohibit a court from determining whether the literal meaning of a statute comports with its purpose or whether such a construction of one provision is consistent with other provisions of the statute. The meaning of a statute may not be determined from a single word or sentence; the words must be construed in context, and provisions relating to the same subject matter must be harmonized to the extent possible. [Citation.] Literal construction should not prevail if it is contrary to the legislative intent apparent in the statute. The intent prevails over the letter, and the letter will, if possible, be so read as to conform to the spirit of the act.’ (*Lungren v. Deukmejian* (1988) 45 Cal.3d 727, 735.)” (*People v. King* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 59, 69.)

Moreover, “[i]t is a settled principle of statutory interpretation that language of a statute should not be given a literal meaning if doing so

would result in absurd consequences which the Legislature did not intend.”  
(*People v. Pieters* (1991) 52 Cal.3d 894, 898-899.) This rule applies  
equally to statutes that have been adopted by the voters. (*People v. Canty*  
(2004) 32 Cal.4th 1266, 1276; *Lungren v. Deukmejian, supra*, 45 Cal.3d at  
p. 735.)

Where there is some ambiguity, reviewing courts should “refer to  
other indicia of the voters’ intent, particularly the analyses and arguments  
contained in the official ballot pamphlet.” [Citation.]” (*People v. Rizo,*  
*supra*, 22 Cal.4th at p. 685.) If a penal statute is still reasonably susceptible  
to multiple constructions, reviewing courts ordinarily adopt the  
“construction which is more favorable to the offender.” (*Id.* at pp. 685-686,  
quoting *People v. Davis* (1981) 29 Cal.3d 814, 828.)

Proposition 47 set forth a list of the Act’s purposes, including to  
“ensure that prison spending is focused on violent and serious offenses”;  
“maximize alternatives for nonserious, nonviolent crime”; “invest the  
savings ... into prevention and support programs”; “ensure [ ] that sentences  
for people convicted of dangerous crimes like rape, murder, and child  
molestation are not changed”; “[r]equire misdemeanors instead of felonies  
for nonserious, nonviolent offenses like petty theft and drug possession,  
unless the defendant has prior convictions for specified violent or serious  
crimes”; “[a]uthorize consideration of resentencing for anyone who is  
currently serving a sentence for any of the offenses ... that are now  
misdemeanors”; and “[r]equire a thorough review of criminal history and  
risk assessment of any individuals before resentencing to ensure that they  
do not pose a risk to public safety. [Citation.]” (*Alejandro N. v. Superior*

*Court* (2015) 238 Cal.App.4th 1209, 1222.)

The Legislative Analyst explained to the voting population of California the intended affects of Proposition 47, thus: “Under current law, theft of property worth \$950 or less is often charged as petty theft, which is a misdemeanor or an infraction. However, such crimes can sometimes be charged as grand theft, which is generally a wobbler. For example, a wobbler charge can occur if the crime involves the theft of certain property (*such as cars*) or if the offender has previously committed certain theft-related crimes. This measure would limit when theft of property of \$950 or less can be charged as grand theft. Specifically, *such crimes would no longer be charged as grand theft solely because of the type of property involved* or because the defendant had previously committed certain theft-related crimes.” (Ballot Pamp., Gen. Elec. (Nov. 4, 2014) analysis by Legislative Analyst, p. 35, emphasis added.)

The electorate also directed that Proposition 47 “shall be liberally construed to effectuate its purposes.” (*Alejandro N. v. Superior Court, supra*, 238 Cal.App.4th at p. 1222.)

It therefore appears safe to assume the voting population of California understood and intended the ameliorative and cost-saving effects of Proposition 47 to apply to the theft of vehicles worth less than \$950, irrespective of which statute the theft was charged under.

**B. A violation of Vehicle Code section 10851, subdivision (a) must be considered a theft for purposes of section 1170.18.**

**1. Section 1170.18 includes violations of section 487 by reference.**

The Court of Appeal here concluded a person convicted of the taking

of a vehicle charged under Vehicle Code section 10851 was not entitled to an offense reduction because Proposition 47 neither added nor amended that statute in enacting section 1170.18. (*People v. Page*, formerly at 241 Cal.App.4th at p. 718.) This narrow interpretation flouts the initiative's directive that it be liberally construed. (*Alejandro N. v. Superior Court*, *supra*, 238 Cal.App.4th at p. 1222.)

Section 490.2, subdivision (a), provides, "Notwithstanding Section 487 or any other provision of law defining grand theft, obtaining *any property* by theft where the value of the money, labor, real or personal property taken does not exceed nine hundred fifty dollars (\$950) shall be considered petty theft and shall be punished as a misdemeanor . . . ." (Emphasis added.) Section 487, subdivision (d)(1) defines theft of an automobile as grand theft. Petitioner's violation of Vehicle Code section 10851, subdivision (a) was subject to reduction to a misdemeanor under section 1170.18 because (1) a violation of section 487 is subject to reduction to a misdemeanor when the value of the vehicle was less than \$950; (2) a violation of Vehicle Code section 10851, subdivision (a) is a lesser included offense of section 487; and (3) the voters who enacted section 1170.18 presumably understood and intended that it apply to the enumerated offenses as well as their lesser included offenses.

Grand theft is punishable as a misdemeanor or a felony. (§§ 489, subd. (c); 1170, subd. (h).) The clause "Notwithstanding Section 487 or any other provision of law defining grand theft . . ." contained in section 490.2, subdivision (a) reduces a violation of section 487 to a misdemeanor when the value of the vehicle taken is less than \$950. Section 1170.18 thus

applies to a violation of section 487 due to the express reference in section 490.2 to section 487.

2. **A violation of Vehicle Code section 10851, subdivision (a) is a lesser included offense to a violation of section 487.**

In *People v. Kehoe* (1949) 33 Cal.2d 711, this court recognized that unlawfully taking or driving an automobile is a lesser included offense of grand theft: “[I]n the absence of any evidence showing a substantial break between [the defendant’s] taking and his use of the automobile in that county, only the conviction for one offense may be sustained.” (*Id.*, 33 Cal.2d at p. 715.) This court has not retreated from that proposition in the ensuing years. (See *People v. Marshall* (1957) 48 Cal.2d 394, 400 [unlawfully taking or driving a vehicle is lesser included offense of grand theft of automobile]; *People v. Barrick* (1982) 33 Cal.3d 115, 128 [same, citing *People v. Buss* (1980) 102 Cal.App.3d 781, 784]; *People v. Vera* (1997) 15 Cal.4th 269, 273 [referring to violation of Vehicle Code section 10851 as lesser included offense of grand theft of automobile].)

Indeed, this court has held that “[i]f the [Vehicle Code section 10851] conviction is for the *taking* of the vehicle, with the intent to permanently deprive the owner of possession, then it is a theft conviction ...” (*People v. Garza* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 866, 881, emphasis in original.) Petitioner in this case pled guilty to a violation of Vehicle Code section 10851, subdivision (a) in which it was alleged he “did unlawfully drive *and* take a certain vehicle,” on or about May 29, 2012. (Clerk’s Transcript on Appeal, vol. 1 of 1, pp. 1, 5.) There was no evidence or information presented in this matter to suggest the vehicle was taken by someone other than petitioner. Thus, his conviction for violating Vehicle Code section

10851, subdivision (a) was, for all intents and purposes, a conviction for vehicle theft.

3. **Section 1170.18 applies to a violation of Vehicle Code section 10851, subdivision (a).**

As acknowledged above, section 1170.18, subdivision (a) does not refer to violations of Vehicle Code section 10851. However, it applies to violations of section 487 through the introductory clause in section 490.2, subdivision (a). If section 1170.18, subdivision (a) applies to violations of section 487, by logical extension it must apply to a lesser included offense of section 487.

If the voters of California deemed theft of an automobile worth less than \$950 to be a sufficiently low-level crime to be eligible for reduction to a misdemeanor pursuant to section 1170.18, then the voters logically must have intended the theft of an identically valued vehicle charged under Vehicle Code section 10851, subdivision (a) to be eligible for reduction to a misdemeanor. It would be illogical, indeed absurd, to allow a defendant who commits a greater offense -- grand theft of an automobile -- to benefit by having that crime eligible for reduction to a misdemeanor under section 1170.18, but deny that benefit to a defendant who committed a less serious violation of the law. A statute should not be interpreted in a manner that leads to absurd results. (*People v. Morris* (1988) 46 Cal.3d 1, 15.) In fact, punishing a lesser included offense more severely than the greater offense would be considered unusual punishment under the state Constitution. (*People v. Doyle* (2013) 220 Cal.App.4th 1251, 1268, citing *People v. Schueren* (1973) 10 Cal.3d 553, 560-561.)

Moreover, because a conviction for grand theft of an automobile is

eligible for reduction to a misdemeanor by virtue of the introductory clause in section 490.2, subdivision (a), and a violation of Vehicle Code section 10851, subdivision (a) is a lesser included offense of grand theft of an automobile, the doctrine of retroactivity announced in *In re Estrada* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 740 further necessitates the application of section 1170.18 to a violation of Vehicle Code section 10851, subdivision (a). Under the *Estrada* doctrine, “when the Legislature amends a statute so as to lessen the punishment it has obviously expressly determined that its former penalty was too severe and that a lighter punishment is proper as punishment for the commission of the prohibited act. It is an inevitable inference that the Legislature must have intended that the new statute imposing the new lighter penalty now deemed to be sufficient should apply to every case to which it constitutionally could apply.” (*Id.* at p. 744.)

**C. The Equal Protection Clause requires that petitioner’s conviction for unlawfully taking a vehicle be treated in the same manner as a conviction for auto theft under section 487, subdivision (d)(1).**

The Court of Appeal here relied in part on this court’s statement in *People v. Romo* (1975) 14 Cal.3d 189, 197 that “a car thief may not complain because he may have been subjected to imprisonment for more than 10 years for grand theft of an automobile [citations] when, under the same facts, he might have been subjected to no more than 5 years under the provisions of section 10851 of the Vehicle Code.” (*People v. Page*, formerly at 241 Cal.App.4th at p. 719.) This court’s observation in *People v. Romo*, *supra*, however, speaks to the obverse situation of that at issue here: one cannot credibly dispute that someone who specifically intends to permanently deprive the owner of the vehicle should be subject to the

higher penalty provision. By contrast, under the Court of Appeal's interpretation of Proposition 47, a person who just intended to temporarily borrow the inexpensive vehicle would be subject to a felony conviction, whereas a defendant who specifically intended to forever deprive the owner of that same vehicle would be sentenced as a misdemeanor.

The equal protection guarantees of the Fourteenth Amendment and the California Constitution are substantially equivalent and analyzed in a similar fashion: if two classes are similarly situated with respect to the purpose of the law in question, but are treated differently, the state must then provide a rational justification for the disparity. (*People v. Noyan* (2014) 232 Cal.App.4th 657, 666; *People v. Lynch* (2012) 209 Cal.App.4th 353, 358.)

Under Proposition 47, the protections and relief of sections 490.2 and 1170.18 are afforded those who were convicted of stealing a motor vehicle valued at \$950 or less because section 487, subdivision (d)(1) specifically is listed in the provisions of Proposition 47. The Equal Protection Clause requires those same protections and relief be afforded a defendant convicted of unlawfully taking a motor vehicle under Vehicle Code section 10851, subdivision (a).

**1. The two classes of thieves are similarly situated.**

“The concept of equal protection recognizes that persons who are similarly situated with respect to a law's legitimate purpose must be treated equally.” (*People v. Brown* (2012) 54 Cal.4th 314, 328.) “The first prerequisite to a meritorious claim under the equal protection clause is a showing that the state has adopted a classification that affects two or more



similarly situated groups in an unequal manner.’ [Citations.]” (*People v. Hofsheier* (2006) 37 Cal.4th 1185, 1199, overruled on another ground in *Johnson v. Department of Justice* (2015) 60 Cal.4th 871, 875; see also *Cooley v. Superior Court* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 228, 253.) In measuring this requirement, a court must ask whether the two classes in question are similarly situated with respect to the purpose of the law challenged. (*People v. Hofsheier, supra*, 37 Cal.4th at pp. 1199-1200, citing *Cooley v. Superior Court, supra*, 29 Cal.4th at p. 253.)

The legitimate purposes of sections 490.2 and 1170.18 are to save money by reducing the costs of incarcerating minor criminals and to promote public health and safety. This is accomplished by diverting resources to higher risk crimes (felonies) and revoking the discretionary power of the District Attorney’s Office to charge low-level thefts and drug possession crimes as felonies instead of misdemeanors. The reallocation of criminal justice resources also depends upon reduction of past and present felony charges to misdemeanors on a fair and level basis. One who simply takes a vehicle is similarly situated to a thief who steals the same vehicle.

**2. The law should not discriminate against a lesser offender.**

There is no plausible justification to withhold from petitioner the same clemency granted a comparable thief. Even where a rational basis may exist for treating two classes of defendants differently, if the law discriminates against the less dangerous class the law nevertheless will fail the rational basis test. (*Newland v. Board of Governors* (1977) 19 Cal.3d 705, 711 [providing relief to felons while withholding same relief from misdemeanants was irrational].) Even assuming *arguendo* the unlawful

taking of a motor vehicle under Vehicle Code section 10851 intentionally was omitted from the provisions of Proposition 47 while grand theft auto under section 487 was included, the punitive relief afforded the latter must be afforded to an otherwise qualified defendant convicted of violating Vehicle Code section 10851, subdivision (a).

### 3. Standard of review for disparate treatment.

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