## In the Supreme Court of the State of California MAY 1 9 2016

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

TIMOTHY WAYNE PAGE,

Defendant and Appellant.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk Deputy

Case No. S230793

Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. E062760 San Bernardino County Superior Court, Case No. FVI1201369 The Honorable Michael A. Smith, Judge

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE SUPERIOR COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S
PETITION FOR RECALL OF SENTENCE AND HELD APPELLANT
INELIGIBLE FOR RELIEF BECAUSE PROPOSITION 47 DOES
NOT APPLY TO CONVICTIONS UNDER VEHICLE CODE
SECTION 10851

Appellant claims the Act applies to violations of Vehicle Code section 10851, though he concedes that the plain language of section 1170.18, the Act's primary statute, does not refer to Vehicle Code section 10851. (ABOM 14.) Since the Act applies to automobile theft violations of Penal Code section 487 through the introductory clause of section 490.2, he claims the drafters impliedly intended the Act apply to Vehicle Code section 10851, which he asserts is a lesser-included, and thus less serious, offense of section 487, subdivision (d)(1). (ABOM 14.) However, appellant may not frustrate the intent of the voters by circumventing the statute's plain language, which is clear and unambiguous: Vehicle Code section 10851 is not included in the list of statutes subject to relief. The plain language prevails because following the Act's plain language does not lead to an absurd result as driving a stolen vehicle may be a more dangerous offense than stealing a vehicle. Also, the plain language prevails because there is no evidence of the electorate's intent to impliedly amend Vehicle Code section 10851 under the Act. As a wobbler, trial courts already had the ability to reduce Vehicle Code section 10851 violations to

misdemeanors; the electorate did not indicate that further reduction was necessary.

#### A. General Principles of Statutory Construction

The interpretation of a ballot initiative is governed by the same rules that apply in construing a statute enacted by the Legislature. (*People v. Park* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 782, 796.) First, the language of the statute is given its ordinary and plain meaning. (*Robert L. v. Superior Court* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 894, 901 (*Robert L.*).) "When statutory language is clear and unambiguous, there is no need for construction and courts should not indulge in it." (*People v. Hendrix* (1997) 16 Cal.4th 508, 512 [internal quotations and citations omitted].)

Second, the statutory language is construed in the context of the statute as a whole and within the framework of the overall statutory scheme to effectuate the voters' intent. (Ibid.) Statutory interpretation canons are employed to determine the meaning of the statute's plain language. For example, the statutory interpretation canon expressio unius est exclusio alterius ("expressio unius") means that inclusion of one thing in a statute indicates exclusion of another thing not expressed in the statute. (E.g. Gikas v. Zolin (1993) 6 Cal.4th 841, 852.) This canon has force only when the items expressed in a statute are members of an "associated group or series," which justifies the conclusion that items not mentioned were excluded by deliberate choice, not inadvertence. (E.g. Barnhart v. Peabody Coal Co. (2003) 537 U.S. 149, 168.) Where a statute lists specific exemptions, courts may not infer additional exemptions unless there is a *clear* legislative intent that such additional exemptions are intended. (Wildlife Alive v. Chickering (1976) 17 Cal.3d 190, 195, superseded by statute in Berkeley Hillside Preservation v. City of Berkeley (2015) 60 Cal.4th 1086.)

Third, where the language is ambiguous, the court will look to "other indicia of the voters' intent, particularly the analyses and arguments contained in the official ballot pamphlet." (Robert L., supra, 30 Cal.4th at p. 900; People v. Floyd (2003) 31 Cal.4th 179, 187–188 [ballot pamphlet information is a valuable aid in construing the intent of voters].) Any ambiguities in an initiative statute are "not interpreted in the defendant's favor if such an interpretation would provide an absurd result, or a result inconsistent with apparent [electorate] intent." (People v. Cruz (1996) 13 Cal.4th 764, 782, internal citation and quotation omitted.) Ultimately, the court's duty is to interpret and apply the language of the initiative "so as to effectuate the electorate's intent." (Robert L., supra, 30 Cal.4th at p. 900.)

B. The Plain Language of Sections 1170.18 and 490.2 Clearly and Unambiguously Omits Any Reference to Vehicle Code Section 10851

Sections 1170.18 and 490.2 omit any reference to Vehicle Code section 10851, and courts may not add something to a statute to conform it to an assumed intent that does not appear from the statute's clear and unambiguous language.

1. The Act states proposition 47 relief may be granted for the "offenses listed" in section 1170.18 and Vehicle Code section 10851 is not one of those offenses

The Act, in an un-codified section declaring the "Purpose and Intent," states in part: "In enacting this act, it is the purpose and intent of the people of the State of California to: ... [¶] (4) Authorize consideration of resentencing for anyone who is currently serving a sentence for any of the offenses *listed herein* that are now misdemeanors." (2014 Cal. Legis. Serv. Prop. 47 (Proposition 47) (WEST), § 3, emphasis added.) Vehicle Code section 10851 is a "wobbler" offense, which can be charged as either a felony or a misdemeanor. The Act did not change this. It added or

amended only the following sections to make them subject to misdemeanor punishment: sections 11350, 11357, or 11377 of the Health and Safety Code, and section 459.5, 473, 476a, 490.2, 496, and 666 of the Penal Code. (§ 1170.18.) Vehicle Code section 10851 is not included in this list. The Act's express inclusion of only particular enumerated offenses implies the drafters intended to exclude non-enumerated offenses, like Vehicle Code section 10851.

Under the well-established statutory interpretation canon expressio unius est exclusio alterius, the Act's inclusion of only particular offenses demonstrates legislative intent to omit Vehicle Code section 10851. As discussed above, this statutory interpretation canon means that inclusion of one thing in a statute indicates the drafters intended to exclude another thing not expressed in the statute. (E.g. Gikas v. Zolin, supra, 6 Cal.4th at p. 852.) This canon has force only when the items expressed in a statute are members of an "associated group or series," which justifies the conclusion that items not mentioned were excluded by deliberate choice, not inadvertence. (E.g. Barnhart v. Peabody Coal Co., supra, 537 U.S. at p. 168.) Where a statute lists specific exemptions, courts may not infer additional exemptions unless there is a clear legislative intent that such additional exemptions are intended. (Wildlife Alive v. Chickering, supra, 17 Cal.3d at p. 195.)

For example, in *People v. Guzman* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 577 (*Guzman*), this Court held that Guzman, who committed nonviolent drug possession offenses (NDPOs) while on probation for offenses that were not NDPOs, was not entitled to mandatory probation under the Substance Abuse and Crime Prevention Act of 2000 (Proposition 36). This Court held that the plain language of Proposition 36 expressly addressed only 1) probationers who were already on probation for NDPO at the effective date of the Act or 2) those who receive probation under the Act for an NDPO. (*Id.* at p. 588.)

This Court stated that under the *expressio unius* canon, "the Act's express inclusion only of probationers who are on probation for NDPO's implies the drafters' intent to exclude probationers who, like defendant, are on probation for non-NDPO's." (*Ibid.*)

Here, as in *Guzman*, Penal Code section 1170.18 lists specific enumerated crimes, and that list does not include Vehicle Code section 10851. The electorate's intent to limit application of the Act to the listed offenses is clear—the plain language of the statute states that a petitioner may request resentencing in accordance with particular listed code sections that have been "added or amended" by the Act. (§ 1170.18.) The logical inference is that any section not added or amended by the Act is not included or affected by the Act. Also, the statute's plain language uses the conjunction "or" between the listed offenses, and "or" is a word of limitation, not expansion. (Cf. *People v. Horner* (1970) 9 Cal.App.3d 23 [statutory word "including" followed by examples is a word of enlargement, not limitation].) There is no logical reason for mentioning only certain statutes if the electorate intended to include others. The statute's plain language illustrates the drafters' intent to limit the applicable offenses to those listed in the text.

### 2. The plain language of section 490.2 omits any reference to Vehicle Code section 10851

Vehicle Code section 10851 is also not included within the language of section 490.2, which the Act added to the Penal Code. Section 490.2 states:

Notwithstanding Section 487 or any other provision of law defining grand theft, obtaining property by theft where the value of the money, labor, real or personal property taken does not exceed nine hundred fifty dollars (\$950) shall be considered petty theft and shall be punished as a misdemeanor....

(§ 490.2, subd. (a), emphasis added.) Section 490.2 neither redefines nor establishes a substantive theft offense. "Theft" is defined in Penal Code section 484, subdivision (a). (See *People v. Davis* (1998) 19 Cal.4th 301, 304–305.) Rather than define a new offense, section 490.2 refers to Penal Code section 487 and "any other provision of law *defining grand theft*." (§ 490.2, subd. (a), emphasis added.) But Vehicle Code section 10851, the unlawful driving or taking of a vehicle, is not a provision of law defining grand theft. Vehicle Code section 10851 provides that:

Any person who *drives* or takes a vehicle not his or her own, without the consent of the owner thereof, and with intent either to permanently or temporarily deprive the owner thereof of his or her title to or possession of the vehicle, whether with or without intent to steal the vehicle, or any person who is a party or an accessory to or an accomplice in the driving or unauthorized taking or stealing, is guilty . . . .

(Veh. Code, § 10851, subd. (a), emphasis added.) It also proscribes, in part, that unlawfully driving or taking an ambulance or a distinctively marked vehicle of a law enforcement agency or fire department is a felony. (Veh. Code, § 10851, subd. (b).) Vehicle Code section 10851 does not characterize a violation of its provisions as a theft, petty theft, or grand theft (cf., e.g., § 487 ["Grand theft is theft committed in any of the following cases"]). As Vehicle Code section 10851 explicitly does not define a grand theft crime, as required under section 490.2, it is not affected or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Penal Code section 484, subdivision (a), provides: "Every person who shall feloniously steal, take, carry, lead, or drive away the personal property of another, or who shall fraudulently appropriate property which has been entrusted to him or her, or who shall knowingly and designedly, by any false or fraudulent representation or pretense, defraud any other person of money, labor or real or personal property, or who causes or procures others to report falsely of his or her wealth or mercantile character and by thus imposing upon any person, obtains credit and thereby fraudulently gets or obtains possession of money, or property or obtains the labor or service of another, is guilty of theft."

circumscribed by section 490.2. Indeed, because the statute can be violated by driving or a taking without the intent to steal, theft (let alone "grand theft") is not required. Accordingly, the plain language of section 490.2 does not apply to Vehicle Code section 10851.

### 3. The statutes' plain language is clear and unambiguous

The plain language of these statutes is clear, thus this Court should not insert additional language to afford appellant relief. As this Court has stated, "insert[ing]' additional language into a statute 'violate[s] the cardinal rule of statutory construction that courts must not add provisions to statutes. This rule has been codified in California as [Code of Civil Procedure] section 1858, which provides that a court must not insert what has been omitted from a statute." (People v. Guzman, supra, 35 Cal.4th at p. 587 (citations omitted).) Courts have no power to add something to a statute to conform it to an assumed intent that does not appear from the statute's language. (Wells Fargo Bank v. Superior Court (1991) 53 Cal.3d 1082, 1099.) As Justice Traynor stated: "[W]ords ... stand in immobilized sentry, reminders that whether their arrangement was wisdom or folly, it was wittingly undertaken and not to be disregarded." (Ibid., quoting People v. Knowles (1950) 35 Cal.2d 175, 182 [internal quotations omitted].) The court should not partially rewrite a statute unless it is "compelled by necessity and supported by firm evidence of the drafters' true intent." (People v. Guzman, supra, 35 Cal.4th at p. 587.)

Furthermore, unless a statute's plain language is ambiguous, the court should not examine legislative history to determine the drafters' intent. (*Robert L.*, *supra*, 30 Cal.4th at p. 900.) Here, there is no ambiguity; the Act does not include Vehicle Code section 10851. In any event, the ballot

materials for Proposition 47 do not help appellant.<sup>4</sup> Though appellant seeks to provide "firm evidence" supporting his view in the ballot materials (ABOM 11), this Court has repeatedly explained, "the statements of purpose and intent" in such an "uncodified section ... properly may be utilized as an aid in construing' the Act, but they 'do not confer power, determine rights, or enlarge the scope of [the] measure." (*People v. Guzman, supra*, 35 Cal.4th at p. 588, quoting *People v. Canty* (2004) 32 Cal.4th 1266, 1280.) Appellant attempts to invoke vague statements in the ballot materials to enlarge the scope of the Act, which is exactly what this Court has stated he cannot do.

In sum, the plain language of the Act, and Penal Code sections 1170.18 and 490.2 do not affect Vehicle Code section 10851 violations. The plain language of the Act demonstrates legislative intent to exclude relief to persons convicted of Vehicle Code section 10851, and appellant cannot frustrate the intent of the voters by circumventing such plain language. Appellant is therefore ineligible for resentencing.

C. The Addition of Section 490.2 Does Not Show the Electorate's Intent to Indirectly Amend Vehicle Code Section 10851 Because Section 10851 Prohibits a Wide Range of Conduct and Does Not Necessarily Include Theft

Despite the fact that the Act's plain language demonstrates legislative intent to omit Vehicle Code section 10851, and though appellant does not suggest that there is anything ambiguous about which offenses are included under the Act's language, appellant claims there is clear evidence of legislative intent to include Vehicle Code section 10851 under the Act.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> As the Act's plain language is clear and unambiguous, there is no reason for this Court to examine legislative history to determine the electorate's intent. Thus, respondent respectfully opposes appellant's request to take judicial notice of the Proposition 47 ballot materials.

Appellant argues that the Act impliedly extends to Vehicle Code section 10851 because the Act added Penal Code section 490.2, which states that theft of property valued at \$950 or less is petty theft, a misdemeanor offense. (ABOM 12.) He argues that since the Act applies to auto theft under section 487 through the introductory clause of Penal Code section 490.2, the Act must also apply to Vehicle Code section 10851, a lesserincluded offense of Penal Code section 487, subdivision (d)(1). Appellant is mistaken. First, appellant fails to show the drafters impliedly intended to include Vehicle Code section 10851 by enacting section 490.2 because that offense involves theft, but Vehicle Code section 10851 includes non-theft conduct. Second, Vehicle Code section 10851 is not a lesser-included offense of section 487, subdivision (d)(1), but even if it were, that does not mean that Vehicle Code section 10851 is a necessarily less serious offense. Precluding relief to violations of driving a stolen vehicle under Vehicle Code section 10851 while extending relief to violations of automobile theft under section 487 does not lead to absurd consequences because driving a stolen vehicle may be a more dangerous offense than stealing a vehicle. Third, the drafters would have expressly included Vehicle Code section 10851 if they had intended the Act apply to that offense. Finally, the legislative history is devoid of any intent to amend Vehicle Code section 10851. Accordingly, the plain language prevails.

### 1. Vehicle Code section 10851 includes non-theft conduct

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